THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

Nov 24 2020

SC Court of Appeals

Francis O. Johnson and Ralph L. Haynes, Respondents,

v.

Mason C. Heyward, Berkeley Electric Cooperative, Inc., and Clementine Ravenel,
Defendants,

Of whom Mason C. Heyward is the Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2019-001216

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough
Charleston County
Trial Court Case No. 2008CP1001054

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John E. Robinson
The Law Offices of John Edward Robinson
36 Broad Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 723-5152
Attorney for Appellant Mason C. Heyward

G. Simms McDowell, III (Ret.)
36 Broad St.
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 723-5152

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN MOVING AND MERGING AN EXISTING, DEDICATED RIGHT OF WAY WITH AN EXISTING PRESCRIPTIVE PATH, THEREBY CREATING AN EASEMENT LARGER IN SIZE AND SCOPE THAN EITHER INDIVIDUAL SERVITUDE, AND THUS OVERBURDEN APPELLANT'S SERVIENT TENEMENT?
2. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE RESURRECTION ROAD PATH WAS DEDICATED TO THE PUBLIC BY HEYWARD AND ACCEPTED BY THE COUNTY BY ALLOWING AMENDMENTS TO THE PLEADINGS AT TRIAL, CAUSING PREJUDICE TO HEYWARD AND DENYING HIM A FAIR TRIAL ON HIS ABANDONMENT CLAIM?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Francis O. Johnson commenced this action by filing a Summons and Complaint on February 25, 2008. This appeal arises out of Johnson's filing of a Summons and Complaint, where he requested a declaratory judgment, which would among other things, grant him a 25' right of way on Resurrection Road, located on Johns Island, County of Charleston (Complaint, p. 3, R. p.54). Heyward ultimately crossclaimed against the County of Charleston, a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina, wherein he requested that any public right-of-way along Resurrection Road be declared abandoned. The trial of the case occurred through several separate hearings, including January 20, 2010, May 28, 2010, and January 14-17, 2013.

In 2010, the Court issued a ruling granting Johnson a prescriptive easement along the Resurrection Road travel path, but which reserved the issue of the nature and scope of the easement. The Court issued an order described herein as an Order and Findings of Fact dated June 30, 2015 which has the effect of merging an alleged public right-of-way

and prescriptive travel path. Appellant Mason C. Heyward filed a Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment, For a New Trial, and For Relief from Judgment, July 15, 2015, which was denied on June 13, 2019. Heyward's counsel received written notice of entry of judgment of the order appealed from on June 19, 2019. Heyward timely served his Notice of Appeal on July 17, 2019.

FACTS

Plaintiffs Francis O. Johnson and Ralph Haynes, and Defendant Mason C. Heyward are property owners accessed by Resurrection Road, an unpaved travel way of varying width located in a rural portion of Johns Island, County of Charleston, State of South Carolina. Resurrection Road has existed "since dirt was new", and the travel way serves as ingress and egress access to 17 properties (R. p. 473, lines 19-23; R. p. 387, lines 14-25). No high-density development presently exists on the Road; lots served by the Road include fields used for agriculture, and single-family residences on acreage (R. p. 517, line 2- R. p. 519, line 16; R. p. 524, lines 4-6).

Heyward's property is the servient tenement for the properties accessed by Resurrection Road, including those of Johnson and Haynes [Plaintiff's Exhibits 5 and 6, (R. pp. 871-874)]. Heyward's property on Resurrection Road consists of two adjacent lots: a larger lot consisting of unimproved acreage, and a "flag lot" on which his residence is located [Plaintiff's Ex. 6 and Defendant's Ex. 9 (R. pp. 872-3, R. pp. 887-888)]. The Resurrection Road travel path roughly follows one of the boundaries of Heyward's property and traverses Heyward's flag lot [Plaintiff's Exhibit. 5 (R. pp. 871-872)]. Heyward's property came to be subdivided in this manner as a result of

Charleston County requiring Heyward to dedicate 25 feet of access to the County of Charleston if he wanted to rebuild his home, which was destroyed by fire in 1995 [Plaintiff's Exhibit 7 (R. pp. 873-874); Order, p.2-3, (R. p. 41-42); R. p. 490, lines 12-19; R. p. 493, line 19- R. p. 494, line 5)].

Additionally, in 1998 an easement agreement was executed between Heyward and William L. Kerrison, which created an express right-of-way for the benefit of Kerrison on the existing travel way, subject to being moved to the County's purported 25' right-of-way, should the County improve it. This easement was recorded with the Charleston Register of Mesne Conveyance on April 30, 1999 [Plaintiff's Exhibit 10 (R. pp. 877-882)].

At the January 20, 2010 hearing, the trial court made a preliminary ruling on the record on Plaintiff's claims referred to in the transcript as a "ruling" or "working copy" (Order, R. p. 40). The court stated at the time that the issues before the court did not involve a governmental taking (Id., R. p. 41-42), and that Johnson had established a right to a private, prescriptive easement (Id., R. p. 42). The court stated that it did not believe it had the power to move an express, dedicated easement, and cited the binding South Carolina authority of Goodwin v. Johnson, 357 S.C. 49, 591 S.E.2d 34 (Ct. App. 2003) for that proposition (Id., R. p. 43, line 23- R. p. 45, line 23). The court's preliminary ruling left open the issue of the scope of the easement (Id., R. p. 43, line 20-21; R. p. 48, line 25-R. p. 49, line 10). The court also stressed that it was concerned that Johnson's

planned minor subdivision might place additional burden on Heyward's servient tenement (Id., R. p. 43, lines 13-22)¹.

Subsequent to the 2010 hearing, the pleadings were amended with leave of court, and Charleston County was ultimately added as a party [Defendant Heyward's First Amended Answer and Crossclaim, p. 3-4, (R. pp. 83-84)]. Heyward claimed in his Amended Answer and Crossclaim that the County had abandoned the Resurrection Road right-of-way and/or travel path. (Id.)

The County, in its Answer, denied that the Resurrection Road 25' right-of-way was dedicated to the public, and assuming, *arguendo*, that it was, the right-of-way grant was not accepted by the County. (Charleston County Answer, p. 2, R. p. 96). Heyward perfected statutory service on all the parties served by the road pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 57-9-10 et. seq. (2010), by the time of the hearing (R. pp. 88-89, R. p. 87).

Additional hearings with Charleston County as a party commenced January 14, 2013. At the outset of the 2013 hearing, the court noted that the purpose of the hearing was to establish the location, scope, and extent of the easement (R. p. 229, line 22- R. p. 230, line 3). At the 2013 hearings, the court considered the testimony of Mason Heyward, Francis Johnson, and Steven Johnson, P.E, a civil engineer qualified as an expert with the consent of all parties. At this hearing, no party testified that Resurrection Road was inadequate for the present use of residents. Francis Johnson testified that the existing road was adequate for existing use:

¹ For purposes of clarity and brevity, the Appellant does not object to, or appeal from, any of the substantive findings of the 2010 ruling, saving and excepting those issues raised in Appellant's amended pleadings after the date of this hearing. The Appellant highlights the specific findings of the court in 2010 to demonstrate the issues in determining the scope of easement in 2013.

Q: Would you agree that the existing dirt roadway to access your property is in some areas less than 25 feet wide?

A: Yes.

Q: Would you agree from your personal observation that those areas have been less than 25 feet wide since the

time you bought the property?

A: More or less. I would say yes....

Q: Have you found the road, you personally, found the road sufficient for your access to the property?

A: Me, personally? Yes. It can be used. I can access it, yes....

(R. p. 604, lines 9-24).

Francis Johnson further testified uses that to his personal knowledge, the travel path had never been obstructed by Heyward:

Q: But you have not physically been witness to somebody putting a chain across the road, parking their vehicle across the public road, standing in the middle of the public road, laying in the middle of the public road?

A: Right.

(Id., R. p. 614, lines 1-6).

Francis Johnson purchased the property in 1977 with the idea of living there at a future date. After a failed land purchase agreement, Francis Johnson shifted his plans by considering subdividing his property for speculative development (R. p. 611, line 11- R. p.612, line 3). Testimony of Sidi Limehouse at trial established the rural character of the properties along Resurrection Road (R. p. 283, line 16- R. p. 285, line 1; R. p. 290, line 24- R. p. 292, line 8).

Steven Johnson, P.E., prepared a survey plat essential to understanding the issues of the case. Various versions of the plat were introduced, including Plaintiff's Exhibit 1 and 1A, and Plaintiff's Exhibit 5. Each iteration of these sketch plats shows the dirt Resurrection Road travel lane as well as the 25' Right of Way (R. p. 239, lines 1-12), and that the two overlap and separate in various locations (Id.) The dedicated right-of-way does not track with the Resurrection Road path (Id.) While they overlap in portions, they also deviate, including a complete void between the two (R. p. 254 line 4- R. p. 29, line 17). Steve Johnson testified there were areas on the lands of Mason Heyward where the Resurrection Road travel path and the dedicated right-of-way did not converge, leaving a gap between the two of some size:

Q. I have a follow-up question. Based on your able drawing of where the existing travel lane is and where the right-of-way is, are there a gap where those two do not converge?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. And on whose lands is that the case?

A. That would be on Mason Heyward's lands....

Q. Do you—again, using your skills as an expert surveyor and thumb-nailing things for a lack of a better term, could you estimate either the distance or the square footage of the area that constitutes the gap between the lands of—between the travel lane and the right of way described by ABCD?

A. I would estimate 240 feet by probably 8 or 9 feet in that little crescent moon. That's guessing.

(R. p. 254, lines 4-10; R. p. 254, lines 11-20).

Steven Johnson's testimony noted that while it was possible to build a road in the allegedly 25' dedicated right-of-way from 1996, there would be challenges in doing so.

This area includes trees, low spots, and berms. (R. p. 258, line 14- R. p. 259, line 25). Widening the existing travel path would take place in a physically-constrained area (Id., R. p. 259, lines 16-25). Steven Johnson's testimony showed that the travel path of the Resurrection Road varied from 24 feet to as little as 12 feet adjacent to the home of Heyward:

Q; You have also previously identified the existing dirt path of Resurrection Road that people drive on?

A: The traveling surface; yes sir.

Q. Traveling surface. I think that's a good term. As a matter of fact, you measured the width of the road on one or more occasions; right?

A. Yes sir, I have.

Q. Can you tell me on the lands in the box that we have described what the variance in the width of the road is over that distance?

A. It is from about 14 and a half feet to 12 feet to 13 feet to 10 feet to 24 feet at Betsy Kerrison.

Q. Can you identify, just for the record for me, any road measurement that is fully outside the 25-foot right-of-way that is less than 25 feet?

A. Less than 25; yes sir.....

(R. p. 253, lines 2-19).

The 2013 hearing was complicated by the position of Charleston County. At the commencement of the January 14, 2013, hearing, counsel for Plaintiff Francis Johnson and counsel for the third party defendant Charleston County stipulated that in exchange for the Plaintiff dismissing a civil conspiracy claim against Charleston County, the County would abandon the position taken in its Answer, and instead join the Plaintiff in position that the Resurrection Road right-of-way was dedicated to and accepted by the

public, but that the County had no duty to maintain the road. (R. p. 222, line 17- R. p. 226, line 24). James Neal, administrator of Charleston County's community road system, testified that Resurrection Road was not formally in the community non-standard road program at the time of the trial (R. p. 367, line 20- R. p. 369, line 1). He further testified that the County maintained or worked the existing road, as opposed to areas in a dedicated right-of-way outside the road area. (R. p. 374, lines 2-15). Neal also admitted that the program was developed to prevent the County having to go to court any time there was a question as to who had rights to a road (R. p. 398, line 24- p. 404, line 10).

Charleston County depends in part on the consent of owners along a road to bring a road into the non-standard road system (R. p. 415 line 7-p. 417 line 2). During the pendency of the litigation, Mason Heyward received notice from the County about the non-standard road program. Through counsel, Heyward objected to maintenance of Resurrection Road by the County. (R. p. 407, line 25-R. p. 413, line 2.) The record of how roads are put into the system had only recently become formalized. (R. p. 401, line 9- R. p. 402, line 17.) By the County's own admission, it would seek to bring roads into "the system" only where consent could be obtained from all owners, due to the various costs of litigation (R. p., 417 lines 3-22).

After the 2013 hearings , the parties submitted proposed orders, and on June 30, 2015, the Court issued an Order adopting the proposed new Resurrection Road travel path as configured by Steve Johnson in his proposed plat, merging and moving the travel path and conflating it with the dedicated right of way [Order, p.22 (R. p. 22)]. The Court ordered preparation of plats in recordable form within 45 days of the issuance thereof [Order., p. 22-23 (R. pp. 29-30)]. The plat dimensions as ordered by the court would

merge the existing travel path and the 25' right-of-way, which has the effect of taking from Mason Heyward a significant area where no road or path is currently located.

Among other things, the Order also directed:

“THIRD: The southernmost boundary line between the Existing Dirt Road known as Resurrection Road be moved or relocated to the south between points A and H on the Johnson survey and plat so as to widen the prescriptive easement from the said point A to point H to a uniform width of twenty-five (25') feet.....

SIXTH: The area of the existing 25' Right-of-Way to the west point of point H on the Johnson survey and plat is impassible because of vegetative and topographical features and that the area be returned by the Count of Charleston in its natural state to Mason C. Heyward as the compensation for the portion of the “radish patch used to recreate the uniform twenty-five (25') foot of the westernmost portion of Resurrection Road.”

-[Order (R. pp. 29-30)].

After receiving the June 30, 2015 Order, Heyward's counsel timely filed a Rule 52, 55, 59, and 60 Motion seeking a new trial, or in the alternative, clarifications to the Court's ruling, which Heyward believed was the result of mistake on behalf of the court [Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment, For a New Trial, and For Relief from Judgment, July 15, 2015 (R. pp. 116-126)]. Specifically, Heyward argued that the Resurrection Road existing pathway could be moved by the Court through the powers of equity into the footprint of the 25' road (R. p. 123). This would also comport with the terms of the 1998 easement agreement, where the parties contemplated that if a 25' improved road was ever built, the use of the old Resurrection Road path would be extinguished [Plaintiff's Exhibit 10, (R. pp. 877-882)]. Heyward further requested that the Court clarify whether there had been an effective dedication of Resurrection Road to

the public given the testimony about the community road system and Heyward's objection to the road's inclusion in the program [Notice of Motion and Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment, For a New Trial, and For Relief from Judgment July 15, 2015, p. 5, (R. p. 121)]. Heyward also asked the court to review its finding that the reconfiguration of access was in fact an exaction or taking from Heyward to the County of Charleston, without compensation, by Charleston County or Johnson [Id., p.2-3, (R. pp. 118-119)]. Finally, Heyward renewed his request to find that the road had been abandoned by the then-existing statutory process contained in S.C. Code Ann. § 57-9-10 (2010) et. seq., together with his renewed objection that Charleston County was allowed to amend its pleadings or stipulate that Resurrection Road was public at trial. Heyward's requests for a new trial and reconsideration were denied by Order dated June 13, 2019 [Order Denying Motion to Reconsider, New Trial, and Rules 60 Relief (R. pp. 32-35)]. This appeal was timely filed on July 25, 2019.

Subsequent to the filing of the appeal, Johnson's agents began road improvement work, and Heyward posted a supersedeas bond to stop the work after his request for a bond was approved by the trial court [Motion for Supersedeas Bond, and Order Granting Supersedeas Bond (R. pp. 177-187; R. pp. 37-39)]. This post-judgment matter is brought to the attention of the Court because while the trial court has ruled Resurrection Road is public, a private actor has taken acts to improve what is claimed to be a public road, perhaps in reliance on the unclear nature of the Final Order in the case.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT ERRED IN MERGING AN EXISTING, DEDICATED RIGHT OF WAY WITH AN EXISTING ROAD, THEREBY CREATING AN EASEMENT LARGER IN SIZE AND SCOPE THAN EITHER INDIVIDUAL SERVITUDE, AND THUS OVERBURDENED APPELLANT'S SERVIENT TENEMENT.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of the extent of a grant of an easement is an action in equity. Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 323, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997). Thus, the Court of Appeals may take its own view of the evidence. Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). The Court of Appeals may reverse a factual finding by the trial court in such cases when the appellant satisfies the court the finding is against the greater weight of the evidence. Campbell v. Carr, 361 S.C. 258, 263, 603 S.E.2d 625, 627 (Ct.App.2004).

DISCUSSION

In the series of hearings in this case, Francis Johnson testified that the existing access to his property is sufficient. (R. p. 604, lines 9-24). Nonetheless, Johnson seeks to modify the existing Resurrection Road lane of travel and increase its size and scope [Order, pp.22-23 (R. pp.29-30)]. The Order, in moving the road and creating a uniform 25' travel way, are contradictory to South Carolina jurisprudence on the treatment of prescriptive easements. In Goodwin v. Johnson, 357 S.C. 49, 591 S.E.2d 34 (S.C. App. 2003), the South Carolina Court of Appeals ruled on the novel issue of the relocation of a

prescriptive easement or easement by necessity. Id., 53. In doing so, the Court looked to the Restatements on property and servitudes, and also to several cases from Maryland, a jurisdiction that adopts the proposition that an easement of necessity may be moved for various equitable reasons Id., 55-57.

The Goodwin opinion cited the Maryland case of Hancock v. Henderson, 202 A.2d 599 (1964), where the court allowed the relocation of an easement when, effectively, an old road used to access the property had ceased to function as such. The Court ruled, in language repeated in Maryland cases and adopted by the South Carolina Court of Appeals that “in the absence of agreement, the trial court ‘should exercise jurisdiction in locating an adequate right of way over the servient tenement in a manner so as to permit ingress and egress of vehicular traffic, but also in a manner least burdensome to the servient tenement.’” Goodwin v. Johnson at 53-57, *citing* Hancock v. Henderson, 236 Md. 98, 202 A.2d 599 (1964) at 603.

The South Carolina Court of Appeals indicated in the Goodwin v. Johnson opinion that courts of equity should apply the general principles of the Restatements of Servitudes to the problem of the necessity and equity of moving an easement. “A Court using its equity powers may relocate an easement when the relocation will not “(a) significantly lessen the utility of the easement, (b) increase the burdens on the owner of the easement in its use and enjoyment, or (c) frustrate the purpose for which the easement was created” (Id. at 57 citing Restatement (Third) of Property: Servitudes Section 4.8 (2000)). Any movement of the easement, regardless of width, would not enhance the utility of the scope of the easement provided, and just as significantly, would increase the

burden on Heyward given the proximity of the travel way of the road to his home.

Widening the road from 12 feet adjacent to his home to 25 feet is unduly burdensome.

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