IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED
OCT 15 2020
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2019-001216

Frances O. Johnson, Respondent,

v.

Mason C. Heyward, Berkeley Electric Cooperative, Inc., and Clementine Ravenel, Defendants,

Of Whom Mason C. Heyward is the Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Harold A. Oberman
Marvin I. Oberman, LLC
Oberman & Oberman, LLC
60 Markfield Drive, Suite 2
Charleston, SC 29407
(843) 577-7010

Paul E. Tinkler
Tinkler Law Firm, LLC
154 King Street, Third Floor
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 853-5203

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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff Francis O. Johnson commenced this action by filing a Summons and Complaint on February 25, 2008, requesting a declaratory judgment, which would among other things, grant him a 25' right of way of Resurrection Road, located on Johns Island, County of Charleston (Complaint, p. 3, R. p. 54). Heyward answered and he eventually filed an Amended Answer and Cross Claim where he crossclaimed against the County of Charleston, asserting abandonment as a defense against Johnson's cause of action (R. pp. 82-88). Johnson, out of an overabundance of caution, filed a pleading in response that denied any counterclaim mentioned in Defendant Heyward's Amended Answer and Crossclaim (R. p. 91). Ralph Haynes explicitly challenged the claim of abandonment via letter [Exhibit 2 to his Amended Answer (R. p. 151)] and via his pleadings in his Amended Answer and Crossclaims [Paragraphs 17, 32-36, and 43, along with his prayer (R. pp. 135, 138-139, 140, 141)].

The County filed an Amended Answer on November 21, 2011 in which it asserted many affirmative defenses (R. pp. 95-103). Berkeley Electric Cooperative, Inc. duly answered (R. pp. 68-72).

The trial of the case occurred through several separate hearings, including January 20, 2010, May 28, 2010, and January 14-17, 2013.

On August 13, 2010, the Court issued a ruling granting Johnson a prescriptive easement, but which reserved the issue of the nature, scope, location, and extent of the easement (R. pp. 4-7). This Order is not appealed and Heyward does not dispute the existence of the prescriptive easement.

The Court issued an Order and Findings of Fact dated June 30, 2015 (R. pp. 8-32) which defined the nature, scope, location and extent of the easement. He ruled:

SECOND: George A.Z. Johnson, Jr., Inc. be retained at the expense of Francis O. Johnson and Ralph L. Haynes to redraw in two or more plats, in recordable form:

- (1) A survey and plat commencing at Betsy Kerrison Parkway and terminating and including the property of Francis O. Johnson to Line J-N (the easternmost boundary line of parcel 14) on the survey of October 31, 2011 with specific detail up to Line B-C on said plat, including the Existing 25' Right-of-Way (A, B, C, D, A)
- (2) A survey and plat showing the area from Line B-C (also shown as L3) to the point of termination at point M (1.0.5/8" Rebar).

THIRD: The southernmost boundary line between the Existing Dirt Road known as Resurrection Road be moved or relocated to the south between points A and H on the Johnson survey and plat so as to widen the prescriptive easement from the said point A to point H to a uniform width of twenty-five (25') feet.

FOURTH: From point H on the Johnson plat (the point of intersection of the existing dirt road with the existing 25' Right-of-Way) the existing dirt road be incorporated into and become a part of the easternmost 415.37' to Line B-C on the Johnson plat.

FIFTH: The movement or relocation of the southernmost boundary of the existing dirt road, as aforesaid, will create a viable, uniform right-of-way to Line B-C (line L2) on the plat of Johnson with a length of 891.13 feet and a uniform width of twenty-five (25') feet as contemplated by the actions of Mason C. Heyward and Charleston County Council, all as shown on the approved Final Plat recorded in Plat Book DA, page 789, RMC Office for Charleston County.

SIXTH: The area of the Existing 25' Right-of-Way to the west of point H on the Johnson survey and plat is impassable because of vegetative and topographical features and that area be returned by the County of Charleston in its natural state to Mason C. Heyward as the compensation for the portion of the “radish” patch used to create the uniform twenty-five (25') foot of the westernmost portion of Resurrection Road.

...

EIGHTH: Within forty-five (45) days subsequent to this Order becoming the Final Order of this Court, the George A.Z. Johnson, Inc. survey team draw, in recordable form, the two surveys and plats as outlined.

(R. pp. 29-31)

The area around the existing roadbed was widened to an easement of 25 feet by incorporating the “radish patch” and parts of a dedicated 25 foot easement. The remainder of the dedicated 25 foot easement was given back to Heyward. This ruling was set forth graphically on the plat of Johnson dated October 20, 2015 (R. p. 894).

Appellant Mason C. Heyward filed a Motion to Alter and Amend Judgment, For a New Trial, and for Relief from Judgment, July 15, 2015 (R. pp. 116-129), which was denied on June 13, 2019 (R. pp. 33-36). Heyward’s counsel received written notice of entry of judgment of the Order appealed from on June 19, 2019. Heyward timely served his Notice of Appeal on July 17, 2019, appealing the Orders of June 30, 2015, and of June 13, 2019.

FACTS

Resurrection Road has existed for many years, or “since dirt was new.” It is a prescriptive easement [Order of August 13, 2010 (R. pp. 4-7)], and the roadbed varies in width, as shown on the plat of Steven J. Johnson [Plaintiff’s Exhibits 1 and 1A (R. pp. 857-860)].

In 1996, Mason Heyward wished to subdivide his property into 2 lots, one of 5 acres and one of 1.3 acres. He instructed his surveyor to prepare a plat in February of 1996 [Plaintiff’s Exhibits 2 and 2A (R. pp. 861-864)]. The Planning Staff and Public Works Department of Charleston County required a 50’ right of way, but Heyward would only give a 25’ right of way. Planning staff explained to the board that “There are landlocked properties behind him, it is the County’s obligation to provide access to these landlocked properties.” Mr. Heyward responded by saying, “If the people in the rear would like access to the property, let them pay for the additional 25’ right of way” [Plaintiff’s Exhibit 10 (R. pp. 877-882); (R. p. 485, line 1 - R. p. 492, line 25)]. County Council eventually “granted approval of a 25’ road right of way dedicated to the public. Resurrection road serves as access to approximately 25 acres of property with high developmental potential” [Defendant’s Exhibit 15 (R. pp. 892-893); R. p. 493, line 12 - R. p. 495, line 12; R. p. 421, lines 7-17].

The granted 25’ road, however, was not Resurrection Road. It turns out, rather than being the roadbed and surrounding area where people had traversed “since dirt was new,” the dedication had area impassible because of grand trees and topographical hindrances [Defendant’s Exhibit A - Johnson Plat of April 15, 2020 (R. pp. 885-886); R. p. 255, line 18 - R. p. 256, line 24]. As shown on the plat, Resurrection Road roadbed overlaps with the dedicated 25’ easement in some areas, but

there is an island of land, or “radish patch” that separates the two (R. p. 591, line 18 - R. p. 592, line 16). This is a small area of approximately 1733 square feet [Plaintiff’s Exhibits 1 and 1A (R. pp. 857-860); Johnson Plat of October 20, 2015 (R. p. 894)].

Johnson, who owns property down Resurrection Road, eventually wanted to sell, but Heyward blocked this sale because of access issues [Plaintiff’s Exhibit 13 (R. pp. 883-884); R. p. 581, line 2 - R. p. 590, line 4]. Haynes bought his property for investment purposes thinking it had 25’ road access [Deposition of Haynes, p.12, lines 1-18 (R. p. 191); p. 29, line 15 - p.31, line 16 (R. p. 196)].

James R. Neal, the Director of Public Works for the County of Charleston, (R. p. 367, lines 1-3) testified that the County of Charleston has records of 34 years of continuous maintenance on Resurrection Road, including motor grader operators to maintain the road [Plaintiff’s Exhibit 8 (R. pp. 875-876); R. p. 369, lines 1-15]. The assigned motor grader operator would go down Resurrection Road to blade road to the end of the road. This would include blading outside the roadbed and into the radish patch, the 1733 square foot area (R. p. 653, line 19 – R. p. 654, line 24; R. p. 692). If the operator needed dirt/fill, then a foreman would follow up with an inspection to see that he did it properly (R. p. 370, line 19 - R. p.374, line 15). Inspections and maintenance occurred on a monthly and regular basis (R. p. 453, line 20 - R. p. 456, line 20; R. p. 692, line 4-23; R. p. 698, line 21 - R. p.699, line 9). Numerous exhibits were entered through Mr. Neal [Plaintiff’s Exhibits 5, 6, 7, and 8 (R. pp. 869-876)] and they included a list of the county non-standard roads [Plaintiff’s Exhibit 5 (R. pp. 869-870)]. Resurrection Road was shown on that list and it was noted—“approximate years maintained—34; it is in Council District 8; number of adjacent properties are 9. Travelway is 30’; no turn around at the end. No drainage. There are trees. The length in miles

is .4” [Plaintiff’s Exhibits 5 and 8 (R. pp 869-870, 875-876); R. p. 386, line 12 - R. p. 388, line 2].

Mr. Neal agreed that the existing right-of-way had at least existed since August 16, 1982. Mr. Neal testified that a portion of the existing prescriptive right-of-way was within the boundaries of the dedicated 25’ right- of- way and was regularly maintained by the County of Charleston (R. p. 373, line 20 - R. p. 374, line 15).

Mr. Neal stated that he, as the Director of Public Works, sent a letter to all persons owning property joining Resurrection Road that stated in part as follows:

Our records reflect that you reside upon or along property adjoining a road formerly characterized as a community road. County records show that you have allowed lengthy public use of property for the above-referenced road; and the County has performed long-term, continuous maintenance of this road for 20 years or more. As a result of these actions, Council determined as of December 6, 2011 at a County Council meeting that Resurrection Road is a public road. In that regard, please consider the following:

1. The County believes that this road is a public road because you have allowed the public to use your property for over 20 years, and the County has no record of your refusing our maintenance and/or improvement efforts. The County is planning to improve this road’s condition.
4. Unless you notify the County in writing at the above-listed address within 90 calendar days from the date of this date of letter that you disagree and/or oppose these actions, the County will proceed with this continued maintenance and improvements under its public roads maintenance system.

A like letter was sent to all property owners adjoining Resurrection Road and only Mason C. Heyward gave notice, through counsel, that he disagreed with the contents of the letter [Plaintiff’s

Exhibit 7 (R. pp. 873-874); Defendant's Exhibit 9 (R. pp. 887-891); R. p. 405, line 20 - R. p. 409, line 20].

Two long-term employees of the County—Mr. Raymond Robinson and Mr. Paul Porter—testified that they maintained, repaired, and worked on Resurrection Road over a period of many years. These employees testified that they had on a regular basis graded portions of the road, that they had at times ordered fill, packed and leveled any developing potholes, (R. p. 637, line 24 - R. p. 646, line 20; R. p. 647, line 21 - R. p. 649, line 16; R. p. 687, lines 6-17; R. p. 690, line 21 - R. p. 695, line 20), and that they had trimmed and cut back vegetative growth on either side of the travel path (R. p. 653, line 23 - R. p. 655, line 18; R. p. 692, lines 4-23; R. p. 698, line 21 - R. p. 699, line 9). Mr. Neal and these employees testified that a green Resurrection Road sign had been erected by the County, in place for many years, and was maintained by the County. The green color of the sign indicated that Resurrection Road was a public road as opposed to a blue sign which would indicate that it was a private road maintained by the residents of that private road [R. p. 382, line 1 - R. p. 383, line 22; Plaintiff's Exhibits 3A and 4 (R. pp. 865-866, R. pp. 869-870)]. The testimony and records of Mr. Neal and the testimony of the on-the-ground workers of the County of Charleston showed a continuing long-term repair and working of the road by the public authorities of the County of Charleston. Those actions and records, together with the correspondence to adjoining land owners, show a strict, cogent, and convincing dedication of Resurrection Road and the acceptance of that offer to dedicate that road as a public road.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The determination of the extent of a grant of an easement is an action in equity. Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 323, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997). Thus, the Court of Appeals may

take its own view of the evidence. Townes Assocs., Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976). The Court of Appeals may reverse a factual finding by the trial court in such cases when the appellant satisfies the court the finding is against the greater weight of the evidence. Campbell v. Carr, 361 S.C. 258, 263, 603 S.E.2d 625, 627 (Ct.App. 2004).

ARGUMENT

I. **THE MASTER DID NOT ERR IN CLARIFYING THE LOCATION AND SCOPE OF THE EASEMENTS.**

The Master was compelled to locate and define the scope of the easement such that the intentions of the parties were realized. Equity here follows the intentions of the parties. Heyward intended to give a 25' easement so that he and others could subdivide [Plaintiff's Exhibits 2, 2A, and 10 (R. pp. 861-862, R. pp. 863-864, R. pp. 877-882); R. p. 485, line 1 - R. p. 492, line 25; Defendant's Exhibit 15 (R. pp. 892-893); R. p. 493, line 12 - R. p. 495, line 12; R. p. 421, lines 7-17]. A long standing road was in existence (Order of August 13, 2010) (R. pp. 4-7). It is equitable and within the power of the court to locate and clarify the implied easement such that it encompasses the road bed and is 25 feet wide. A court in equity may relocate an easement. It may be changed for equitable reasons. Goodwin v. Johnson, 357 S.C. 49, 591 SE2d 34 (Ct. App. 2003). Courts have moved easements along the route preferred by the dominant owner. 36 A.L.R. 4th 788 -791 Sec. 8(b).

The Goodwin factors are addressed in paragraph 29 of the Final Order (R. pp. 17-18). To have the easement in swampland, [Defendant's Exhibit A - Johnson Plat of April 15, 2020 (R. p. 885); R. p. 255, line 18 - R. p. 256, line 24] or to have no 25' easement at all, would frustrate any

honest intentions of the parties and the purpose of the easement. The location and scope set by the Master increases the utility of the easement. It is not impassible. It encompasses an existing road. The scope and the new location of the easement does not burden Heyward. He gains more acreage than he loses. It is not closer to his house. The easement boundary is moved to the south and away from his property [R. p. 262, line 8 - R. p. 264, line 1; Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 and 1A (R. pp. 857-858; R. pp. 859-860); Defendant's Exhibit A (R. pp. 885-886); Johnson Plat of October 20, 2015 (R. p. 894)].

All of these factors show that locating the easement as such and clarifying its scope is reasonable, which is the basis for the decision in Marlow v. Marlow, 284 S.C. 155, 325 S.E.2d 703 (1984), especially since the express grant here envisioned future subdivision. Paragraph 23 of the Final Order outlines this potential subdivision with the County granting "approval of a 25' right-of-way being dedicated to the public" for "access to the approximately 25 acres of property with high development potential" [Defendant's Exhibit 15 (R. pp. 892-893); R. p. 493, line 12 - R. p. 495, line 12; R. p. 421, lines 7-17]. Heyward bargained for this and the county reduced the right-of-way from 50' to 25' [Plaintiff's Exhibit 10 (R. pp. 877-882); R. p. 485, line 1 - R. p. 491, line 25]. The Order of June 30, 2015 is fair, equitable and reasonable. Heyward should not be allowed disavow his promise and bargain to give the public a 25' easement such that he and others could subdivide. Heyward is not concerned about the increased burden on his estate, he is concerned about money. Heyward should not allowed to extract money from other landowners for a grant already expressly publically given (R. p. 475, line 10 - R. p. 477, line 19). The easement is located in such a way that it is least burdensome to all parties involved and in such a way that Heyward receives more land than

he gives [Plaintiff's Exhibits 1 and 1A (R. pp. 857-858; R. pp. 859-860); Defendant's Exhibit A (R. pp. 885-886); Johnson Plat of October 20, 2015 (R. p. 894)].

II. THE MASTER DID NOT ERR BY TRYING THE ISSUE OF DEDICATION BECAUSE THIS MATTER WAS ALWAYS AT ISSUE BETWEEN HEYWARD AND THE ORIGINAL DEFENDANTS, AND BECAUSE HEYWARD NEVER MOVED FOR A CONTINUANCE.

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